1993

# Loretta v. Briggs : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

The Trial Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order on the 15th day of September, 1993. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed October 14, 1993. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Annotated 78-2A-3(2)(k).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM BASED UPON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS**

The Trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Dismiss based upon the applicable Utah and Texas Statutes of Limitations.

#### **Standard of Review**

The questions of statutory construction and application are questions of law that require no particular deference to the Trial Court's interpretation. Roosevelt City v. Nebeker, 815 P.2d 738 (Utah App. 1991); Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989).

### **POINT II**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

A. The Trial Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment based upon the Trial Court's selected facts while ignoring other facts which create a genuine issue of fact.

B. The Trial Court erred in receiving and considering as undisputed fact, evidence in violation of the parole evidence rule.



C. The Trial Court erred in receiving and considering, as an undisputed fact, a document, the consideration of which violated the Statute of Frauds.

#### **Standard of Review**

1. Summary Judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and it clearly appears that there is no reasonable probability that the party moved against can prevail. Snyder v. Merkley, 693 P.2d 64 (Utah 1984).

2. In determining where the Trial Court correctly found that there were no genuine issues of material fact, the Appellate Court reviews the facts and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. It reviews the Trial Court's conclusions of law for correctness including its conclusion that there are no material fact issues. Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc. 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991).

#### **POINT III**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS EVIDENCED BY ITS ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE CONTENTS OF WHICH EVIDENCE MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT.**

#### **Standard of Review**

See paragraphs 1 and 2 above. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered, 681 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1984).

#### **POINT IV**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT GARY BRIGGS' MOTION TO JOIN INDISPENSABLE THIRD PARTIES.**

#### **Standard of Review**

The Trial Court reviews questions of law for correctness.

Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., supra.

### **Statutes**

The text of the following Statutes is as set forth in Addendum A attached hereto. UCA, §25-5-4; §70A-8-204; §70A-8-301; §70A-8-308; §70A-8-313; §70A-8-314; §70A-8-319; §78-12-45; Texas Civil Proc. SIV.P; Rem Code §16-003,051; UCA, §48A-2A-1001 et seq. UCA.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A. Nature of the Case. The unverified Complaint of Plaintiff seeks recovery of 32,190 shares of stock of Digitran, Inc. (See Addendum B)

The Plaintiff claims that Briggs converted the stock to his own use and seeks the return of the shares of stock and/or the value of the shares of stock and any benefits or value accruing to the shares of stock.

B. Course of the Proceedings. Briggs filed an answer and an amended answer to Plaintiff's Complaint. Plaintiff took Briggs' Deposition. The deposition, together with 34 exhibits and an affidavit of Plaintiff were submitted to the Court for decision upon the Plaintiff's and Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

C. Disposition in the Trial Court. The District Court of Cache County, the Honorable Gordon J. Low presiding, granted Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and denied the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss the complaint.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1981 Gary M. Briggs, a resident of the State of California in 1981 purchased a unit of a Louisiana limited partnership known as "Crane Development, Ltd. Partnership"\*\* (Depo. TR 6, l. 12) (Ex. 1)

The consideration for the Limited Partnership Unit was \$128,632 of which \$57,750 was cash. (Depo. 10, l. 25) In addition to the cash contribution to Crane Development, Briggs was required to execute a promissory note in the amount of \$70,882.00 to the partnership, due and payable on November 30, 1990. (Depo. TR p. 11) The purchase of the limited partnership unit occurred in Louisiana. (Depo. 14) Crane Development had a research on the development agreement with Digitran,m Inc.

1986 On April 1, 1986, Digitran, Inc. offered to discount the note payable to Crane Development Ltd. Partnership in exchange for the sum of \$30,400 for each unit as full payment of the 1990 note and stock in Digitran, Inc. The offer was made by Loretta Records, President, Digitran, Inc. (Ex. 1(a), Depo. p. 21 - 24) Defendant, on April 30, 1986, exercised the option to prepay the 1990 note and tendered the sum of \$30,400 to Digitran, Inc. (Ex. 2, Depo. p. 25 l. 24; p. 26)

---

\* Depo. refers to the deposition of Gary Briggs. Plaintiff's affidavit refers to Plaintiff's Affidavit on file. Ex. refers to Deposition Exhibits. Rec. refers to record.

\*\* The purpose of Crane Development Ltd was to conduct R&D for the creation of simulator technology for large crane operations. The Defendant, Briggs claims the Plaintiff has converted the technology for her entity Digitran, Inc. without paying any royalty for the use of the technology.

As cited above as additional consideration of the prepayment of the note by Briggs, Digitran, Inc. agreed to issue to the limited partners a number of shares in Digitran, Inc. at a market price of 75¢ per share. (Depo. Ex. 2) The stock to be issued to Gary Briggs should have been 40,533 shares. The stock was not delivered by Digitran, Inc. to Briggs as agreed. (Ex. 3, 4; Depo. p. 42, l. 14 - 20; Depo. 43, l. 13 - 17)

1987 - 1988 Gary Briggs then a resident of Colorado, between May of 1987 through February of 1988, went to the office of Digitran, Inc. in Louisiana. Gary Briggs was an employee of Merrill-Lynch. Plaintiff, Loretta Penfold Records fixes the date as October 8, 1987. (Pl. Aff., Rec. 124)

Gary Briggs describes the conversation prior to the delivery of the stock and irrevocable stock power as expressing concerns that Digitran was having numerous problems meeting its obligations relative to Crane Partnership. (Depo. TR 42) There were problems with the payment of royalties by Digitran/Digicrane to the partnership. (TR 43) Briggs had not received his stock from Digitran as agreed. (Depo. 42)\*\*\*

Note: Defendant's counsel's objection as written in the record based upon the Parole Evidence Rule. (TR 44, l. 1)

By reason of the defaults of Digitran, Inc., Loretta Records delivered to Gary Briggs 32,190 shares of her personal stock and

---

\*\*\* Briggs purchased a unit of Crane Development. Crane Development had an agreement with Digitran, Inc. or Digicrane to provide research and development funds to Digitran-Digicrane in exchange for royalties to be paid to the partnership.

irrevocable stock power (Addendum B). Gary Briggs describes his understanding of the transactions as his option to use the stock as he felt necessary to fulfill the unpaid debts relative to Digicrane

Digitran. (TR 44, l. 21 - 25) The conversations between the parties over Brigg's counsel's objection was as follows:

TR 42:

Q: So somewhere in 1987 or early 1988 when you received the stock certificate identified as Exhibit 6, can you tell me under what circumstances it was received?

A: There had been numerous problems relative to performance on the part of Digitran - Digicrane and obligations relative to the Crane partnership and the repayment offer that I had subscribed to and this document. The original of the document represented by Exhibit 6 was given to me by Loretta Records as security that the good faith performance would be followed by Digitran/Digicrane.

TR 43:

A: There were problems relative to royalties. There would have been numerous lack of good faith efforts on the part of Digitran - Digicrane and when this stock was given to me it was not specifically related to the issuance of 40,000 shares connected with the prepayment.

TR 44:

Q: The discussions you have had with Loretta Records which led to the delivery of this stock certificate on Exhibit 6 was there a clear understanding in your mind as to what a good faith performance would be? I am referring back to your earlier statement that this was to be security that good faith performance would be followed through.

A: No.

Q: So it was unclear as to what was good faith performance?

A: That is correct.

Q: Let me ask you, what do you mean by security, when you use the word security? Does that imply that this stock was for you to take and use for your own from that point forward?

A: I would have the option to use it as my own if I felt it necessary to fulfill unpaid debts relative to Digitran/Digicrane.

Q: Was it your option?

A: Yes.

Q: What would trigger the option?

A: There was no specific trigger that was identified.

TR 45:

Q: Under what sorts of circumstance would you have returned the stock?

A: We had no specific agreement.

Q: Let me ask you again. How do you define the term "security" as you used it earlier?

A: That would have been the option to sell or exchange of certificate to obtain funds in payment for unpaid debt.

TR 45:

Q: Do you believe that when you got the stock certificate that the next day or immediately for that matter that the stock certificate could be transferred into your name without further recourse such that it became your stock?

A: Yes.

TR 46:

Q: When do you believe, under what set of circumstances, would whatever obligation you felt was owed to you arising out of your Crane Partnership be satisfied? What amount of compensation, what amount of performance would you be satisfied with in connection with this transaction? It is unlimited?

A: At this point in time I would say that it is primarily tied to the payment of royalty monies owed to me as a result of Simulator Development and the manufacture and sale and ongoing commencement for an ongoing proper accounting of funds due and the commitment to make future payments.

TR 49:

Q: Let me come back to the track I was following a little bit earlier. If I were to try to assess what you believe is owed to you, arising out of the whole transaction, how would you tell me I should quantify what you are owed?

A: At this point in time the balance owed to me is represented by the royalties on simulator sale, crane simulator sales and those royalties outlined in the Manufacturing and Marketing Agreement which has been entered into.

TR 49:

Q: Do you consider the stock that was represented by Exhibit 6 as part of that compensation or is it related more to a concept of the royalty that you are concerned about?

A: The value of the stock would relate to the royalty issue.

TR 57:

Q: Did you have any discussion with Loretta Records at the time you obtained the certificate identified in Exhibit 6 as to what this irrevocable stock or bond power on that exhibit was and how it worked?

A: Yes.

Q: Can you tell me as best you can recall, what the discussion was that took place at that time?

A: The reason for the stock power was that her merely giving me the Digitran certificate was of no value relative to any kind of security or collateral in that I had no way of recourse relative to selling or disposing of that stock. It was therefore necessary to have a stock power in conjunction with the stock for it to be of any value to me personally.

TR 58:

Q: Was that explained to Loretta Records at the time?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you tell her that the execution by her of such a stock power would in fact allow you to transfer that stock in your name?

A: Yes.

As a result of this conversation relayed by Gary Briggs, Plaintiff/Gallent executed Exhibit 6 which is an irrevocable stock or bond power. A copy of Exhibit 6 is attached hereto as Addendum B. The stock power and stock certificate were delivered on that date to the Defendant.

On March 17, 1988, Gary Briggs, now a resident of Texas, demands payment of interest on the money he advanced to prepay the note by reason of the failure of Digitran, Inc. to issue the stock agreed upon. (Ex. 7; Depo. p. 51 - 52) Briggs wrote letters to Loretta Records Gallent, president of Digitran, demanding performance. (Ex. 7) Exhibit 8 is a check by Loretta Records as an officer of Simulator Research. She represented herself to be an officer of the general partner of Crane Development Ltd. Partnership. She paid interest to Briggs on money advanced years earlier to prepay the 1990 note. Therefore the Plaintiff, Loretta Records in addition to being an individual plaintiff in this case, is also the president of Digitran, Inc. or Digicrane and is the sole owner of the stock in Simulator Research, Inc., the general partner of the limited partnership, a unit of which is owned by Gary Briggs. (Ex. 19 p. 10)

The defaults of Digitran continued. In 1988 Gary Briggs had not received the shares of stock to be issued in consideration of his prepayment of the note nor had he received royalties from the general partner Simulator Research which is wholly owned by Loretta Gallent. (See Ex. 7) Exhibit 7 does not contain any offer by Briggs to return any personal stock of Loretta Gallent's upon delivery by Digitran of the stock to him. In 1988 Digitran continued to send Gary Briggs documents for his execution at his Texas address. (See Ex. 9 and 10)

On November 22, 1988, Digitran, Inc. issued to the Defendant 40,533 shares of stock. (Pl. Aff. p. 3, Rec. p. 203)



1989 On September 25, 1989, and thereafter the Defendant made requests upon Loretta Gallent at Logan, Utah for the payment of royalties. (Ex. 28) Briggs was then a resident of the State of Texas; Plaintiff is a resident of the State of Utah. The demands for royalties continued until the time of the commencement of the suit. (See Ex. 13, 15, 23, 27, 29, 30, 31)

The Plaintiff and her companies moved to Utah approximately November of 1988. (See Plaintiff's Affidavit attached to the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Rec. p. 203)

Briggs refused to return the 32,160 shares of stock upon the delivery to him of the 40,533 shares of stock, upon the basis that Digitran, Loretta Gallent and Simulator Research, all of which were either owned or controlled by Loretta Gallent, had failed to pay royalties as provided in the agreements between the parties. (See Ex. 1, 17 p. 6, Ex. 19 p. 70, Ex. 20 p.6) Many letters passed back and forth, however, none resulted in the payment of a royalty nor the resolution of the case.

1992 Briggs was served with Summons in this action on January 5, 1992 while in Utah attempting to attend the stockholders meeting of Digitran in Logan, Utah.

The Deposition of Gary Briggs was taken December 18, 1992. By agreement between the Plaintiff and Defendant, it was published for the court's consideration.

At the time of the Briggs deposition, Plaintiff produced Exhibit 33 (see Appendix C) which appears to claim that the receipt of this stock is in exchange for the right to receive royalties.

The document could not be identified by Gary Briggs nor has the document been identified by any other person.

The deposition also contains Exhibit 34 which is a document produced by Loretta R. Gallent which claims to be a copy of an original document delivered to Gary Briggs. Neither Exhibits 33 nor 34 were signed by Briggs nor delivered to him and Briggs claims then, as now, that neither can be enforced against him by reason of the Statute of Frauds.

Plaintiff's Complaint in this action is a complaint for conversion or the return of personal property or its value. Gary Briggs moved the Court for the joinder of third parties and/or interpleader on the 22nd day of January, 1993. The motion was answered by the Plaintiff, and the Trial Court, in error, denied the motion. Loretta Penfold Records, a/k/a Loretta Gallent, individually, is the Plaintiff in this action. She is also the sole stockholder of Simulator Research, Inc., which is the general partner of Crane Development Ltd. Partnership. Gary Briggs is an owner of one unit of Crane Development. Loretta is also the President and a substantial shareholder of Digitran, Inc. and Digicrane. An agreement between Digitran, Inc. and Crane Development, the limited partnership, contains an agreement for the payment of royalties. (See Ex. 17 and 19) Digitran generated sales and has failed to pay royalties. Gary Briggs claims he is entitled to royalties under his agreement, and, therefore, Loretta Gallent, as the president and general partner of Crane Development and Digitran Inc. are necessary parties to this action if a

determination of royalties or any offsetting obligations is to be made.

Each party moved the Trial Court for summary disposition; Briggs claiming the Plaintiff's action was barred by the Statute of Limitations and Gallent claiming her right to the return of the stock. The Trial Court denied the Defendant's Motion for Summary disposition and granted the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary disposition. Thereafter Defendant made a request for additional rulings citing the portions of the record ignored by the Court in making its determination. The Court thereafter entered a second Memorandum Decision. Plaintiff submitted to the Court and the Court signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order granting the Summary Judgment and dismissing the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Rec. p. 255) (Addendum D)

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

### **POINT I**

The Trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendant's motion for Summary Judgment based upon Utah's borrowing statute cited as 78-12-45 U.C.A. which provides that a cause of action arising in another state, if barred in that state, is barred in the State of Utah. Briggs received from Loretta Gallent 32,160 shares of stock and an irrevocable stock power on October 8, 1987 in Louisiana. Digitran issued the 40,533 shares of stock on November 22, 1988 to Gary Briggs in Texas. The action for the return of stock was brought by the Plaintiff on January 3, 1992 in Utah. The Texas Statute of Limitations of Action is two (2) years for the recovery

of personal property (Addendum A). Under any theory the action is time barred in Texas and therefore time barred in the State of Utah.

## **POINT II**

The Trial Court erred in granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

A. The Trial Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment based upon contested issues of fact. The Defendant describes the continued defaults of Digitran as the reason for the delivery to him by Loretta Records of 32,160 shares of stock of Digitran. These continued defaults were expressed by Briggs as being a failure by Digitran to issue shares of stock to him in accordance with their agreement and the failure on the part of Digitran to account for sales and pay royalties. The stock has now been issued but Digitran has failed to account for profits and pay royalties to the owners of the limited partnership units. There is a substantial issue of fact as to whether or not one of the conditions for the delivery of the stock to Gary Briggs by Loretta Gallent was payment or in lieu of royalties. The Trial Court acknowledged the contested issue and failed to recognize or address that it created a question of fact for trial. (Addendum D)

B. The Trial Court erred in receiving and considering evidence in violation of the parole evidence rule. Curiously the Trial Court indicated there was no contested issue as a fact and immediately followed by entering Findings of Fact. Finding No. 3 sets forth three items as consideration Briggs received for the

cancellation of a note. The Court omits the fourth item of consideration which was the payment of royalties. Briggs, however, asserts that the irrevocable stock or bond power executed by Loretta Penfold Records constitutes an unambiguous document the execution of which irrevocably transfers all right, title and interest in and to 32,190 shares of stock of Digitran Systems, Inc. to the Defendant. It is error upon the Trial Court's part to consider, as undisputed facts, portions of the deposition of Briggs and the affidavit of Loretta Penfold Records which modify or expand upon the written documents she executed.

C. The Trial Court erred in receiving and considering as an undisputed fact a document, Exhibit 34, a copy of which is attached hereto as Addendum C in violation of the statute of frauds. Exhibit 34 purports to be a document executed only by Loretta Penfold Records on October 8, 1987, confirming an agreement to return 32,190 shares of stock to her upon Gary Briggs receiving 40,533 shares of stock from Digitran, Inc. and omitting any reference to royalties.

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