1993

Loretta Penfold Records v. Gary M. Briggs : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

The Defendant argues that Utah's borrowing statute bars the Plaintiff's action, but fails to acknowledge the exception set forth in the statute (Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-45) which is that it

affords the protections of Utah law to Utah residents who incur causes of action outside the state. That is the case here since Plaintiff is now a Utah resident. See Allen v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 583 P.2d 613 (Utah 1978). He also ignores the triggering event for the running of the statute of limitations, namely the transfer of the 32,190 shares of stock into his name on August 23, 1990 which would make the filing of the action timely even under the Texas two year statute for conversion. The District Court did not even reach that issue because the Court found that Plaintiff's action was based on contract and therefore, as conceded by Defendant, would come under the shortest statute on contracts--four years.

The state with the most significant contacts and the focus of all the activities until Plaintiff moved to Utah is Louisiana which has a ten year statute on pledge agreements. This is also the law which would be "borrowed" under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-45 for the benefit of Plaintiff.

POINT II

Defendant misstates the basis for the District Court's decision granting Plaintiff summary judgment. It is very clear from the transcript of the hearing and the Court's memorandum decisions that summary judgment was granted because there was no dispute as to any material facts as set forth with particularity on pages 2-4 in the Court's August 4, 1993 Memorandum Decision. (Rec. 244-246.)

In addition, Defendant fails to acknowledge the difference between parol evidence and extrinsic evidence. The District Court utilized documents signed by the Defendant starting with the AGREEMENT TO PREPAY CLASS A OR CLASS B NOTE in clarifying what transpired between the parties. The only parol evidence which was considered came from Defendant's own deposition and was used to explain the relationship of the Irrevocable Stock Power to the transaction between the parties. Ex. 34, which seems to be a big issue for Defendant, is not even considered by the District Court in its ruling.

POINT III

Not only did the Court not err in setting forth clearly the undisputed facts on which it based its ruling, but clarified them in the Findings of Fact, which is what is required under the cases cited by Defendant. The Court identified the parts of the record which sustained its findings that the facts are undisputed. The cases clearly hold that a trial court may consider, in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions on file. The facts not in dispute clearly are sufficient to sustain the District Court's ruling.

POINT IV

The Defendant continually tries to bring issues into this case which the District Court earlier ruled were not relevant since they did not relate to the parties in the instant case. The Defendant filed a motion to join additional parties which the court duly considered and denied. This ruling was based on sound reasoning

and should not be disturbed since it did not constitute an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS NOT BARRED UNDER ANY OF THE APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS

The key issue as discussed in detail at the hearing on the Motions for Summary Judgment and as conceded by Defendant's counsel is whether this is an action covered by the limitations statute on contracts. (See Hearing Tr. pp. 26, 37-38.) If it is, then the limitations statutes of Louisiana, Texas, Colorado and Utah are all at least four years and the action was timely filed. That is, in fact, what the District Court found. (See Findings of Fact, ¶1, Rec. 259-260, and Hearing Tr. pp. 46-47, lines 25, 1-3.)

Under any analysis, including conflict of laws rules, Plaintiff's complaint was timely filed. Initially, Defendant asserted in his Memorandum Re: Motion for Summary Judgment (Rec. 171), that the Utah statute of limitations applied. Plaintiff, in response, cited Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35 which tolls an action when a person is absent from the state. See Van Tassell v. Shaffer, 742 P.2d 111 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). See also, Lawson v. Tripp, 95 P. 520 (1908). Under this statute the time would be tolled from the time Digitran, Inc. moved to Utah in 1988 until now except for the few days that Defendant has been in the state for stockholder meetings or his deposition. Defendant then decided that Texas or Colorado law must apply. (See p. 4, Rec. 210, of

Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Memorandum, "The cause of action in this case did not accrue in the State of Utah but accrued in the State of Colorado or Texas which are the residences of the Defendant at the time of the transaction.") Then it was Louisiana or Texas (Hearing Tr. p. 24) and finally, Texas in his appeal brief.

Even under Defendant's shotgun approach, the calculations are faulty. The agreement which commenced this whole transaction was signed by Defendant on or about December 3, 1986. (See Depo. Ex. 4 and Depo. Tr. p. 37.) The pledge of Plaintiff's stock was entered into October 8, 1987, but according to Defendant's own testimony, the trigger on when he could exercise his "option" to redeem the collateral if Digitran, Inc. did not perform was uncertain. In fact, the actual transfer of the stock certificate which was pledged, namely certificate number 2939, was not effected until August 23, 1990, after Digitran's obligation was already satisfied. The law is clear that a transfer of stock requires the following steps: (1) indorsement and delivery of the stock certificate by the transferor to the transferee; (2) delivery of the stock certificate by the transferee to the transfer agent of the corporation for registration in its books; (3) examination of the certificate by the transfer agent; (4) recordation of the transfer; and (5) cancellation of the old certificate and delivery of the new certificate to the transferee. See, B.Y.U.J. Legal Stud. Summary of Utah Corporate Law §6.35 (1982). Assuming arguendo that Defendant converted Plaintiff's stock, this did not

occur until Defendant requested the issuance of the stock in his name and the stock was issued on August 23, 1990. (See Depo. Ex. 11.) This action was filed January 3, 1992, so even under the Texas two year statute relating to conversion this action was timely filed.

However, neither Texas or Colorado meet the criteria set forth in Defendant's own brief. If the criteria for establishing the law which should be applied is as set forth by Defendant, an examination of those criteria leaves Texas and Colorado sadly lacking. Until Digitran, Inc. and the plaintiff moved to Utah all of the significant contacts relating to the execution of the original contract (the AGREEMENT TO PREPAY CLASS A OR CLASS B NOTE); the pledge of the stock to secure the original contract; the payment of the interest because of the delay; and the delivery of the 40,533 shares in satisfaction of the original contract took place in Louisiana. The only act which did not involve Louisiana was the transfer of stock certificate 2939 by Defendant in 1990 effected by him through the stock transfer agent in New York. The only contact with Texas is that is where the Defendant was living at that time. All of the other transactions occurred while he was in Louisiana or Colorado. At all times the Plaintiff's residence and the principal office of Digitran, Inc. was either in Louisiana or Utah. In fact, the borrowing statute cited by Defendant, Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-45 would allow the action to be maintained in this state even if it had expired in Louisiana. (See Allen v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 583 P.2d 613 (Utah 1978).)

However, it had not expired in Louisiana. The statute of limitations, (known in Louisiana as the prescriptive period) is ten years as set forth in the following analysis. Since Louisiana does not adhere to the common law doctrine evidenced by the Statute of Frauds because it follows the Napoleonic traditions of a Civil Code, the law of obligations governs contracts within the state. Generally, Louisiana law does not require that a contract be in written form, and it may be proved by testimony, or by presumption. La.Civ. Code art. 1832. Moreover, good faith shall govern the conduct of the parties in whatever pertains to the obligation. La.Civ. Code art. 1759.

The District Court found that a contract had been entered into between the parties regarding the ultimate delivery of 40,533 shares to Defendant. Thereafter, because of a delay in the delivery of this stock, Plaintiff entered into a pledge (or security agreement) relating to 32,190 shares of her own personal stock pending issuance of the stock in favor of Defendant by Digitran, Inc. Under Louisiana law, a pledge is a contract by which one debtor gives something to his creditor or the creditor of another as security for a debt or obligation. La. Civ. Code arts. 3133, 3141. Louisiana courts agree that the prescriptive period (i.e., period of limitations) in such a case is ten years. See, Franklin v. Bridges Loan and Investment Company, Inc., 371 So.2d 294 (La. App. 2d Cir. 1979).

Not only would the Defendant's assertion that the execution of the stock power constitute a completed transfer be inconceivable

under Louisiana law, but there are thousands of brokers around the country who hold their clients' stock who would be surprised. In light of the fact that Defendant was a licensed stock broker and understands the fiduciary responsibility which a broker has to ascertain the nature of the arrangement under which stock and stock powers are delivered, it appears disingenuous at best to assert the stock transfer was effected on October 8, 1987. Defendant has already admitted in his deposition that Plaintiff's personal stock was delivered as security to assure performance by Digicrane/Digitran.

POINT II

DEFENDANT HAS NO TENABLE BASIS ON WHICH TO ASSERT A BAR TO INTRODUCTION OF EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE

Defendant misconstrues the District Court's decision in this case. The Court clearly stated that the basis for granting summary judgment was a finding that there were no material facts which were in dispute. (Hearing Tr. pp. 59-60; August 5, 1993 Memorandum Decision, Rec. 244; Findings of Fact, Rec. 261.) The Court clearly outlined the facts not in dispute on pages 2-4 of the August 5, 1993 Memorandum Decision (Rec. 261-263).

The Defendant attempts to direct attention away from the basic agreement. That agreement was signed by the Defendant and his wife on December 3, 1986 and is entitled AGREEMENT TO PREPAY CLASS A OR CLASS B NOTE. As stated by the Court in the Memorandum Decision,

It is undisputed that Defendant entered into an agreement to prepay the class note to Digitran. As a part of the agreement Defendant elected to pay \$30,400, half the value of the original note, in

cash to Crane Development Limited Partnership. The following was part of the consideration given to Defendant for the prepayment: (1) Defendant's promissory note would be canceled and delivered to him (2) Digicrane would execute an amendment to the Guaranty and Assumption Agreement, (3) Defendant would receive one share of Common Stock from Digitran for each \$0.75 contributed by Defendant in cash upon the execution of the Agreement. Defendant paid the \$30,400 and was guaranteed to receive the stock by June 1, 1986.

The Court then recites the undisputed facts surrounding the subsequent transactions and concludes as follows:

The 32,190 shares of stock given to Defendant by Plaintiff were admittedly given as 'security for a good faith performance.' They were delivered at a time when Digitran had still not delivered the 40,533 shares of stock pursuant to the prepayment agreement. There was no other clear obligation at that time to Defendant Defendant has received the stock promised him in the prepayment agreement. Defendant has filed to establish why he is entitled to retain the other 32,190 shares.

It also appears that Defendant is throwing up a red herring when he argues that the Court's decision rested on parol evidence. That is not what the Court said. On page 2, Rec. 244, of the Memorandum Decision the Court stated, "Defendant argues that exhibit 6, the Irrevocable Stock Power, is the only admissible evidence of the transaction concerning the 32,190 shares of stock." The Court also pointed out that the Defendant did not want any other document or testimony to be admitted in evidence. The Court ruled that Ex. 6 was only one of a series of documents in a transaction between Plaintiff and Defendant and that other evidence should be admitted "... explaining the context and understanding of the parties at the time of transfer."

It would appear that Defendant's motivation in trying to exclude extrinsic evidence (not parol evidence) has a lot to do with the fact that documents signed by him establishes the nature of the transaction which is the subject of this case and it is consistent with Plaintiff's assertions. In fact, the ruling by the District Court is consistent with the ground rules which allow an examination of the circumstances surrounding this transaction. See, Sprouse v. Jager, 806 P.2d 219 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); (can look to extraneous evidence to determine intent); Sparrow v. Tayco Const. Co., 206 Utah Adv. Rep. 8 (Utah Ct.App. 1993). The fact is that the delivery of the stock power and stock certificate to Defendant by Plaintiff were part and parcel of a transaction which was commenced with the execution by Defendant and his wife of the document entitled AGREEMENT TO PREPAY CLASS A OR CLASS B NOTE in December 1986. That agreement contemplated the payment by Defendant of \$30,400, his release from obligation on a note, and the delivery of stock in Digitran, Inc. to him at a value of \$.75 per share. Without reference to that document nothing which happens after that is comprehensible. There was a check paid by Defendant to Digicrane, Inc.; a release signed by Digitran, Inc.; an agreement to deliver shares; a pledge of stock to Defendant of Plaintiff's personal shares pending availability of new issue Digitran stock; and delivery of the appropriate number of shares (40,533) to Defendant--all taking place after the signing of the original agreement.

As set forth in Gregerson v. Jensen, 617 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980), several documents may be construed together notwithstanding the fact that they are not all signed by the party to be charged as long as some nexus is shown between them. In that case the Court looked to a deed which contained just the names of the parties and a detailed legal description of some real estate but which had not been recorded or signed to find an agreement between the parties. The Court stated: "Parol evidence will be considered if it convincingly shows that the signed and unsigned writings are connected to one another and have been assented to by the parties."

That case is cited in Machan Hampshire Properties, Inc. v. Western Real Estate & Development Co., 779 P.2d 230 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) cited by Defendant which actually supports Plaintiff's position.

These cases go beyond what needs to be established here. As alluded to above, unless the transfer of the 32,190 shares of stock was gratuitous and done in isolation from any other contact the Plaintiff and Defendant had between themselves, it has to be placed in the context of that relationship.

In the simplest view of this whole transaction, you merely ascertain the number of shares Defendant was entitled to under his agreement, namely 40,533. Then you calculate how many he actually did get: 72,723 shares, (and there is no assertion anywhere that he gave any additional consideration for any additional shares)-- subtract the difference: 32,190 shares, and that is what is owed to Plaintiff. Defendant can try to confuse the issue, but that is the bottom line.

In a more sophisticated fashion, the transaction as originally formulated in Louisiana where it took place was an agreement to convey stock, followed by a pledge which was clearly enforceable under Louisiana law, followed by delivery of the stock, which delivery had been secured by the earlier stock pledge, followed by the return of the stock pledge. Unfortunately, the Defendant was not forthcoming with the cancellation of the stock pledge and consequently this action had to be filed.

Defendant's position that no parol evidence can be introduced to explain the context for the delivery of a stock certificate and a stock power actually misses the point. First, the District Court ruling did look to extrinsic evidence--not parol evidence for the establishment of an agreement. Second, Defendant's argument is like saying that a check for the payment of the purchase of some property cannot be connected with the transaction to which it relates unless it is signed by both parties. It is ludicrous to take that position. That is like saying that if a person has overpaid by mistake for an obligation that he is not entitled to a refund because you cannot introduce extrinsic evidence to explain the relevance of a check which constituted the overpayment.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING IS SOUND AND IS BASED ON UNDISPUTED FACTS IN THE RECORD

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